1983

First National Bank Of Commerce v. Jeoffrey Meacham : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENTS OF POINTS

- I. DEFENDANT'S INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT AUTOMOBILE IS SUPERIOR TO PLAINTIFF'S INTEREST.
 - A. PLAINTIFF'S SECURITY INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT AUTOMOBILE WAS UNPERFECTED AT THE TIME OF DEFENDANT'S PURCHASE.
 - B. UNDER LOUISIANA LAW, DEFENDANT'S INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT AUTOMOBILE IS SUPERIOR TO PLAINTIFF'S UNPERFECTED SECURITY INTEREST.
 1. Louisiana choice of law rules direct the application of Texas law which holds Defendant's interest superior to that of Plaintiff's interest.
 2. Louisiana case law protects Defendant's interest in the subject automobile as a bona fide purchaser for value.
 - C. AS A MATTER OF POLICY, THE FACTS OF THIS CASE SUPPORT THE APPLICATION OF UTAH LAW WITH RESPECT TO THE ISSUE OF PRIORITY.
- II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN HOLDING THAT DEFENDANT CONVERTED THE SUBJECT AUTOMOBILE.
 - A. DEFENDANT DID NOT EXERCISE UNAUTHORIZED ACTS OF POSSESSION OVER THE SUBJECT AUTOMOBILE.
 - B. PLAINTIFF DID NOT HAVE AN IMMEDIATE RIGHT TO POSSESSION OF THE SUBJECT AUTOMOBILE.
 1. Louisiana law controls the determination of the immediate right to possession as between the parties to the security agreement.
 2. Louisiana law does not give a secured creditor an immediate right to possession of the collateral upon default by the debtor.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF UTAH

FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF :
COMMERCE, :
Plaintiff-Respondent, :
vs. : Case No. 19287
JEFFREY MEACHAM, :
Defendant-Appellant. :

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NATURE OF CASE

This case is an action for replevin.

DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT

This action for replevin was brought by Plaintiff, a secured party, alleging an interest in the subject automobile superior to that of Defendant, a subsequent purchaser for value.

The District Court found that Plaintiff's security interest was unperfected at the time of Defendant's purchase. The Court also felt that since Defendant failed to ascertain if any liens were outstanding on the subject automobile, he was not a bona fide purchaser for value under Louisiana law.

Defendant was found to have converted the subject automobile under Utah law because Plaintiff had an immediate right to possession of the vehicle upon default in the underlying security agreement. Therefore, any transfer amounted to a conversion. The Court felt this was true whether Defendant was a bona fide purchaser for value or not.

Summary judgment as to possession of the automobile was granted in favor of Plaintiff with the issue of damages being reserved for future determination.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant, GEOFFREY A. MEACHAM, respectfully requests this Court to reverse the judgment of the trial court as a matter of law or, in the alternative, remand the case for a determination of the genuine issues of material fact existing in the record.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sometime prior to the spring of 1980, Richard and Shawn Carey, who are not parties to this action, purchased a 1978 Ferrari GTS automobile, serial number 26897. (R.291 Meacham Deposition, p.9.) This automobile is the subject of this action. On January 12, 1981, the Careys borrowed money from the Plaintiff/Respondent, FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF COMMERCE (hereinafter referred to as "Plaintiff"). Its principal place of business is located in the Parish of Orleans, State of Louisiana. (R.166.) The Careys granted a chattel mortgage in the subject automobile in favor of Plaintiff to secure the loan amount. A certificate of title was issued covering the automobile by the State of Louisiana on April 16, 1981 showing the Careys as owners and Plaintiff as being the first lienholder as of January 12, 1981. (R.93-94, 170-171).

The Careys sold the subject Ferrari for \$36,000 to Walker F. Amann, Jr., purportedly on March 11, 1981. Plaintiff facilitated this purchase by loaning Amann \$25,000. On the sale

date, Amann executed a Promissory Note obligating him to pay the principal plus interest, and a chattel mortgage in the automobile in favor of Plaintiff. (R.84-87, 96, 172-173, 177.) Plaintiff, by Affidavit, states that Amann made his first scheduled payment on or about April 27, 1981, and he has failed to make any further payments under the note. (R.161,167.) As a condition of the sale of the subject automobile to Amann, Plaintiff released its lien exhibited on the Carey's Certificate of Title. (R.94, 171.) This release was apparently effective on the date of the sale to Amann, March 11, 1981.

On or about May 27, 1981, Plaintiff attempted to perfect its security interest in the subject automobile relative to the Amann loan by submitting an application for Certificate of Title with the required documents and fees to the Louisiana Department of Public Safety. (R.167, 174.) The Department of Public Safety returned the above-mentioned documents and, in a letter dated June 10, 1981, made additional requests of Plaintiff, including that the Carey's title be endorsed by them and the additional fee of \$2,853.40 be submitted. (R.179.) The date which the application for Certificate of Title was again delivered to the Department of Safety has not been established. The Louisiana Certificate of Title covering the Ferrari was issued in Amann's name on September 8, 1981, showing Plaintiff as first lienholder.

In or about June, 1981, Defendant/Appellant, JEOFFREY A. MEACHAM (hereinafter referred to as "Defendant") and Richard Carey discussed the possible purchase of the subject automobile by

Defendant. The agreed purchase price was \$5,000 cash and 7,000 shares of U.S. Rich Hill Minerals Corporation (now T.D.Two, Ltd.) stock, which was trading at between \$5.00 and \$5.50 per share. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp.10, 15.) In that same month, Carey delivered the subject automobile to Defendant in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Accompanying the car was a registration card issued by the State of Louisiana, showing Shawn Carey as the registered owner, with no Certificate of Title having been proffered by Carey. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp.10-11.) At that time, Carey represented that no liens existed on the automobile and that he would give Defendant the title upon Carey's return to his home in Houston, Texas. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, p.16.) Defendant had no knowledge of Amann's ownership interest or of Plaintiff's security interest in the subject automobile. Since Carey did not want to take the car with him, he left it in Defendant's possession. Defendant then caused the Ferrari to be driven to Salt Lake City, where he added necessary improvements to the car costing \$2,300. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp.17,50-52.)

Defendant subsequently wired \$5,000 to Carey in Houston, Texas, and placed the shares of U.S. Rich Hill Minerals Corporation stock with a transfer agent. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp.12-14, 21-22.)

During the month of July, 1981, Defendant was contacted by both Plaintiff and Amann concerning the status of the subject automobile. Amann stated that the car belonged to him and that Plaintiff had a lien on it. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp.6-7.) Defendant then contacted Carey who admitted having

previously sold the Ferrari to Amann. Carey also stated that he had given the \$5,000 to Amann, which Amann later confirmed. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp. 9, 23.) Having learned this, Defendant told Amann that if \$7,300 (representing \$5,000 given for the purchase and \$2,300 in necessary improvements) were to be forwarded to Defendant, he would have the car delivered to Amann at his home in Houston, Texas. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, p.23.) Amann agreed to return \$5,000, but refused to pay for the improvements. In or about August of 1981, Amann arrived in Salt Lake City with Mavis Bond Montecino, his alleged fiancée. At that time, Montecino gave Defendant a \$5,000 check drawn on a Houston bank for the return of the subject automobile. Defendant inquired as to the sufficiency of funds in the account on which the check drawn, the Houston bank responding that it was a new account with an approximate balance of \$50. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp.23-25, Exhibit A.) When confronted with this fact, Amann stated that the funds would be transferred. The funds were not transferred, and Amann and Montecino left Salt Lake City. The Defendant has had no further contact with them. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp.25-26.)

Dan Ross, Plaintiff's agent, also contacted Defendant in or about July, 1981. Defendant informed Ross, as he had Amann, that he (Defendant) had expended \$7,300 on the Ferrari and, if that amount was tendered, he would deliver the automobile to Plaintiff. After further discussion, however, it was agreed that if Plaintiff could furnish clear title, Defendant would pay \$21,000 (represented by Ross as being the payoff of Plaintiff's

tion) for the automobile. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp.27-30.) On July 21, 1981, a customer's draft was presented for payment in favor of Plaintiff at Defendant's bank in the amount of \$26,314.83. (R.98.) Various documents were also presented. The certificate of Title was, however, not included. Because of this, Defendant instructed his bank to return the documents and terminated any further communication with Ross. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp. 30-31.)

During this period, Defendant contacted the Louisiana Department of Public Safety, whose records reflected that the Careys were owners of the subject vehicle. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, p.37.)

Later, John Pitts, Plaintiff's Vice President, contacted Defendant. Again, a deal was struck whereby Plaintiff was to furnish clear title in return for Defendant's payment of \$21,000. (R.291, Meacham Deposition, pp.29, 35-40.) A customer's draft, dated October 1, 1981, was presented at Defendant's bank in favor of Plaintiff in the amount of \$26,314.83. (R.97.) A letter, dated November 30, 1981, to Defendant from Pitts, also referred to an amount of \$26,314.83. (R.101-102.) Having previously agreed to a price of \$21,000, not \$26,314.83, Defendant felt Plaintiff had again taken advantage of him, and had no further communications with representatives of Plaintiff. The present action ensued. Pursuant to stipulation, the subject automobile has been delivered to the custody of the Salt Lake County Constable pending outcome of this action.

ARGUMENT

I

DEFENDANT'S INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT AUTOMOBILE IS SUPERIOR TO PLAINTIFF'S INTEREST

In approaching a choice of law problem, a statutory directive of the forum court's state is first followed in approaching a choice of law issue. Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §6(1)(1971). Since, the issues on appeal revolve around a security interest created by a chattel mortgage, the Utah Uniform Commercial Code is the controlling forum statute. Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-102(2) (Repl. Vol. 1980).

In determining the relative priorities of the parties, perfection or nonperfection of Plaintiff's security interest is the controlling issue. Therefore, the Code's general choice of law provision is applicable. It provides that §9-103 governs issues of perfection of a security interest. Utah Code Ann. §70A-1-105(2) (Repl. Vol. 1980). §9-103(2) provides, in part, that:

(a) This subsection applies to goods covered by a certificate of title issued under a statute of this state or of another jurisdiction under the law of which indication of a security interest on the certificate is required as a condition of perfection.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, perfection and the effect of perfection or non-perfection of a security interest are governed by the law (including the conflict of laws rules) of the jurisdiction issuing the certificate....

Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-103(2) (Repl. Vol. 1980).

The subject automobile is covered by a certificate of title issued pursuant to statutes of Louisiana under which indication of a security interest thereon is a condition of perfection. La.Rev.Stat. Ann. §§32:701 et seq (West 1963). Louisiana law, therefore, governs the issue of perfection.

A. PLAINTIFF'S SECURITY INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT AUTOMOBILE WAS UNPERFECTED AT THE TIME OF DEFENDANT'S PURCHASE.

Louisiana's Vehicle Certificate of Title Law, La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§32:701 et seq (West 1963), is the sole and exclusive method of executing and recording chattel mortgages and governs the priorities of such mortgages on motor vehicles. La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §9:5366 (West 1950); §32:710 (West Supp. 1982). A brief discussion of this law follows. All references are to Chapter Four of Title 32 of the Louisiana Revised Statute of 1950, as amended. (La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§32:701 et seq.)

Chapter Four applies to the sale and mortgaging of vehicles of the sort and kind required to be licensed in Louisiana §704. Since it was contemplated that the subject automobile would be registered and licensed in Louisiana, the chattel mortgage between Amann and Plaintiff is subject to the provisions of Chapter Four. §705 requires the seller of a vehicle to deliver a certificate of title issued under Chapter Four with a signed endorsement of sale and assignment to the purchaser. §706 states that no person buying a vehicle shall receive marketable title until a certificate of title to said vehicle is obtained; provided, however, that the negotiation of a chattel mortgage on a vehicle will not be delayed by this provision. §706 further provides that a chattel mortgage shall be effective as to all persons from the time of its execution if the mortgage is received and validated by the vehicle commission (hereafter "commissioner") within fifteen (15) days after such date of execution; otherwise, from the date of notation of the chattel mortgage on the face of the certificate of title. Applications for certificates of title

are to be by prescribed form, sworn before a notary public within five (5) days after delivery of such vehicle and accompanied by the prescribed fee. If a certificate of title has been previously issued for the vehicle, said certificate, duly endorsed, shall accompany the application §707. If satisfied that the applicant is the owner of the vehicle and the application is in proper form, the commissioner shall issue a certificate of title, but not otherwise §707. When a lien is shown on the certificate, it shall be forwarded by the commissioner to the mortgagee of first rank for retention until its mortgage is satisfied §708. Upon full liquidation of the mortgage, the first mortgagee shall deliver the title with proper release of said mortgage to the registered owner, or next ranking mortgage holder. The owner or chattel mortgage holder may present the certificate to the commissioner for cancellation of the mortgage §708. Every chattel mortgage subject to Chapter Four shall be in writing describing the nature of the obligation secured thereby and the mortgaged vehicle §710. In order to affect third persons, the chattel mortgage must be by authentic act or by private act duly authenticated, and is effective against third persons as of the time of its execution if received and validated by the commissioner's office within fifteen (15) days after such execution. Otherwise, the chattel mortgage is effective as to all persons when it is delivered to the commissioner §710.

The above-described steps for perfection make it clear that Plaintiff's security interest was unperfected when Defendant purchased the subject automobile. At the outset, it

It should be noted that the application was not received and validated within fifteen (15) days of the execution of the chattel mortgage between Plaintiff and Amann. Therefore, the mortgage did not affect third persons from the date of said execution, purportedly March 11, 1981. c.f. §§706,710.

The record shows that §707 was not followed in that the certificate of title previously issued to the Careys was not duly endorsed by them. Furthermore, the Careys' title had not been returned to the commissioner's office for cancellation as of November 5, 1982. (R.179, 205.) c.f. §§705,707.

There are, at the very least, issues of material fact to be resolved as to whether the Amann chattel mortgage was duly authenticated, and the application for certificate of title was properly sworn before a notary. c.f. §§707,710. These issues arise because of the past practices of Plaintiff's in-house notary, Charles J. Pisano. Articles 2234 et seq of Louisiana's Civil Code control authentic acts. They provide in substance that authentic acts must be executed before a notary or, if under private signature, acknowledged by the party against whom it is adduced. See La. Civil Code Ann. art.'s 2234, 2242 (West 1952). It is obvious from the record that Pisano's signature attesting the Careys' endorsement on March 11, 1981 conflicts with the Department of Public Safety's letter of June 10, 1981 rejecting Amann's application. The letter states that the Careys' title had not been endorsed. (R.93-94, 170-171, 179.) Certainly, the Careys could not have executed their signatures nor acknowledged the same before Pisano on March 11, 1981, as he so attests.

Indeed, John Pitts, Plaintiff's Vice President, confirms in a letter to Defendant, dated November 30, 1981, that title had not been properly transferred from the Careys to Amann as of July 20, 1981. (R.101-102.) The customer's draft referred to in the Pitts letter is dated July 20, 1981. (R.98.)

These actions throw in doubt the whole evidentiary chain of events in which Pisano is the notary. For example, was the Bill of Sale between Amann and the Careys, attested by Pisano, actually executed on March 11, 1981 (R.96, 177), or was the sale executed after Defendant purchased the subject automobile? Furthermore, was the Amann chattel mortgage (R.85, 172) properly attested by Pisano so as to meet a condition of perfection, c.f. §710? Viewed in a light most favorable to Defendant, Pisano's past practices give rise to material issues of fact that cannot be answered by the documents themselves, and which are best resolved by the trier of fact and not by summary judgment. Hall v. Warren, 632 P.2d 848 (Utah 1981); Thorncock v. Cook, 604 P.2d 934 (Utah 1979); Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

Assuming arguendo, however, that both the sale between Amann and Carey and the Amann chattel mortgage were properly executed on March 11, 1981, Plaintiff's security interest was still unperfected because of its failure to properly "deliver" the application to the commissioner as required by §710B before the date of Defendant's purchase. c.f. §710B. (The exact date of Defendant's purchase has yet to be established. Defendant recalls it to be near the end of June, 1981, and no later than July 4, 1981 (R.291, Meacham Deposition, p.15). Amann, by affidavit,

states that Carey took possession of the car on June 22, 1981 (P.162).)

Plaintiff contends that the Amann application for Certificate of Title was delivered to the commissioner as early as May 27, 1981, and no later than June 10, 1981. (R.110.) This application originally submitted May 27, 1981 (R.174) was returned to Plaintiff by the commissioner with a letter dated June 10, 1981 and a further notation of June 22, 1981 on the same letter (R.179). There is nothing in the record to suggest that Plaintiff resubmitted the application prior to Defendant's purchase of the subject automobile. As noted supra, delivery of a chattel mortgage (included in the application) to the commissioner is a condition of perfection §710B.

Even if the chattel mortgage was delivered prior to Defendant's purchase, Plaintiff's security interest was still not perfected at that time. "Delivery" as used in §710B should be construed as meaning the application is delivered in proper form and is approved by the commissioner.

Although there is no Louisiana case law on this point, the filing provisions of Article 9 of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code provides a useful analogy. Filing of a financing statement is the method by which most security interests are perfected under the Code. Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-302 (Repl. Vol. 1980). Statutes which provide for indication of a security interest on certificates of title are, of course, excepted. *id.* §70A-9-302(3)(b). "A financing statement substantially complying with the [filing provisions] is effective even though it contains

minor errors which are not seriously misleading." id. §9-402(9). Thus, under the Code, a financing statement presented for filing which is substantially correct and not seriously misleading perfects the security interest. id. §9-403(1). Delivery of the application for certificate of title under La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §32:710B (West Supp. 1982) could, by analogy, be said to perfect the security interest if done so in the proper form which is substantially correct and not seriously misleading.

A well-reasoned opinion discussing this analogy with respect to certificate of title applications is In re Poteet, 5 Bankr. 631 (Bankr. E.D. Tenn. 1980). In In re Poteet, the court was faced with the issue of whether a bank's retention of a security interest in an automobile constituted a preference under 11 U.S.C. §547(b)(Supp. 1980); the court thus having to determine the date on which the bank perfected its security interest. The applicable statute provided that constructive notice of a lien relates from the time of receipt and filing a request for notation of the lien upon the certificate of title. Tenn. Code Ann. §§55-3-125,-126 (Repl. Vol. 1980).

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