1983

First National Bank Of Commerce v. Jeoffrey Meacham : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

Defendant Meacham converted the Ferrari.

A. Murdock v. Blake controls the subject action.

As recognized by the district court, the controlling issue with respect to determining the owner of the automobile is conversion. On March 11, 1981, Amann borrowed \$25,000.00 from Plaintiff Bank and signed a promissory note and security agreement whereby Amann gave Plaintiff Bank a security interest

in the subject automobile. (R. 172-173) The fifth paragraph on the reverse side of this contract states: "If borrower fails to make any scheduled payment or defaults in any other obligation under this contract, holder may cause the mortgaged vehicle to be seized and sold under executory or any other legal process, in the manner provided by law. . . ."

Further, Utah law provides that unless otherwise agreed, "a secured party has on default the right to take possession of the collateral. . . ." § 70A-9-503, Utah Code Ann. (Repl. Vol. 1977).

Amann made his first and only payment to the Bank on April 27, 1981. He made no further payments. Thus, on May 21, 1981, the day after the second payment was due, Amann defaulted on his loan. The Bank, as the secured party, was, therefore, entitled to possession of the automobile after May 20, 1981. Once Amann breached his contract, his right to possess or sell the vehicle terminated.

In Murdock v. Blake, 26 Utah 2d 22, 484 P.2d 164 (1971), this Court faced a factual situation similar to the current case. Murdock v. Blake involved a lien creditor's execution upon property held subject to a security interest. The debtor, Blake, had defaulted on an agreement with Atlantic Richfield, the secured creditor. After Blake's default under his security agreement with Atlantic Richfield, Murdock, a lien creditor, received a default judgment against Blake (in a matter unrelated to the Atlantic Richfield matter) and executed on the

property secured by Atlantic Richfield's security interest.

The Court held:

Since Blake was in default at the time plaintiffs received the default judgment, Atlantic was entitled to possession of the collateral at that time, both by virtue of the express provisions of the security agreement and by Section 70A-9-503. In other words, the right to possession and sale of the collateral passed from the debtor, Blake, to the secured party, Atlantic, at the time of default, and these are the rights to which Atlantic was entitled to be restored.

Murdock, 484 P.2d at 169.

The Court continued:

The most important remedy available to a secured party is the right to take possession of the collateral following a debtor's default. After default, the debtor has lost his right of possession and sale and retains only a contingent right in the surplus, if any, after sale.

* * *

One who has possession or an immediate right to possession, such as a chattel mortgagee or conditional seller after default, may maintain an action for conversion against one who has exercised unauthorized acts of dominion over the property of another in exclusion or denial of his rights or inconsistent therewith.

Murdock, 484 P.2d at 169.

Contrary to appellant's urgings, perfection of the secured party's interest is not a necessary element in the conversion action. The status of the secured party (by virtue of the Security Agreement), not perfection, governs the outcome of the Murdock vs. Blake line of cases. The mention of perfection in Murdock vs. Blake and other cases cited by appellant is mere dicta in the recitation of facts introducing the opinion. At the time of default the only priority issue in Murdock and the current case arises between the secured party and the debtor. In such a posture perfection is meaningless.

On May 20, 1981, upon Amann's default, the bank had the right to possession of the automobile. Meacham didn't receive the car from Carey until over one month later; and he didn't make his one and only payment on the car until July 20, 1981, two full months after the bank received full possessory rights.

The issue of priority between a secured party and a subsequent purchaser, so heavily relied on by appellant is, therefore, completely immaterial. At the date of Amann's default under the loan with the bank, the bank shifted from the position of a party with a mere security interest to that of a party with full possessory rights. The ruling in Murdock vs. Blake makes it clear that in Utah the issues of perfection and priority under the commercial code are no longer relevant once a secured party obtains possessory rights. Meacham's unauthorized control over the automobile which the bank, and only the bank, had the right to possess is conversion.

B. The Bank had the immediate right to possession of the automobile upon the debtor's default.

Defendant Meacham now argues that Plaintiff was not entitled to immediate possession of the automobile upon the default of Amann due to the Louisiana Executory Proceeding Law. Defendant argues that the right of possession under Louisiana law accrues only after a creditor has gone through an executory proceeding.

In his answer to Plaintiff's original and amended complaints, Defendant offered general denials to Plaintiff's allegations that it was entitled to seize the automobile upon

default. (R. 51-53, 218-220A) Meacham offered no affidavits establishing this. And this defense is not mentioned in Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Judgment. (R. 137-202)

In fact, Defendant agreed in his Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Judgment that Section 70A-9-503 of the Utah Code Annotated "granted to the secured party the right to take possession of the collateral as to the debtor" (R. 230), but argued that the rights of third parties were to be determined based on the issue of perfection.

It is well established that Defendant cannot now raise a new defense that was not before the trial court. Yost v. State, 640 P.2d 1044 (Utah, 1981). Under Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Defendant's general denials are not sufficient to establish the defense that Plaintiff did not have the immediate right to possession. Rule 56(e) states in part:

When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.

Clearly, the issue of Plaintiff's immediate right of possession was not raised in the trial court; defendant cannot therefore raise this defense on appeal.

Nonetheless, even under Louisiana law, plaintiff has the right to immediate possession of the collateral upon the debtor's default. The Louisiana statutes dealing with executory process, La. Rev. Stat. Ann. 59:5363 and La. Civ.

Code Ann. Articles 2631 - 2639, requires that before a party can seize and sell collateral, he must file a petition with the court setting forth evidence of the obligation, confession of judgment, and the Plaintiff's right to use executory process. The court then issues a writ of seizure and sale. If, as in this case, the debtor waives notice and demand in the original instrument or in any other writing, the debtor need not be notified of the proceeding or receive demand for payment before the collateral is seized. The executory proceeding under Louisiana law may be completely ex parte. The filing of the petition does not establish the secured party's right to go against the collateral; rather it merely sets forth a judicially enforced procedure for taking possession of personal property. Simply stated, Louisiana is not a "self help" state. This distinction, however, does not affect the bank's right to possession upon Amann's default. Even in a UCC state, such as Utah, the right to immediate possession of the security upon a debtor's default remains unaffected if the secured party elects to repossess the security through judicial process rather than through self help. Utah Code Annotated, §§ 70A-9-501 and 70A-9-503 (Replacement Volume 1980).

Under either Utah or Louisiana law, as well as under the terms of the contract, plaintiff was entitled to immediate possession of the Ferrari upon Amann's default. Meacham then took possession of the automobile in violation of the bank's possessory right. Under Louisiana and Utah law Meacham converted the Ferrari.

POINT II

Plaintiff's security interest was perfected under Louisiana law and therefore its rights are superior to Defendant's.

A. Under Louisiana Law, Plaintiff's security interest was perfected.

In the memorandum decision of the trial court, the Honorable Judge Fishler granted summary judgment based on his findings that (1) Defendant converted the vehicle; and (2) that Defendant was not a bona fide purchaser. In passing, Judge Fishler also stated that Plaintiff's interest was unperfected at the time of the sale, but that Plaintiff's interest was still superior to Defendant's because Defendant was not a bona fide purchaser. Judge Fishler's statement regarding perfection was not essential to his decision, the decision was not based on perfection, and therefore the statement is dictum and not binding. Plaintiff will therefore briefly consider this issue of perfection.

Appellant is correct in asserting that the determination of perfection of Plaintiff's security interest is governed by the law of the State of Louisiana. Utah Code Annotated, Section 70A-9-103(2)(b)(Repl. Vol., 1977) Section 32:710 of Louisiana's Vehicle Certificate of Title Law is the applicable law in determining the effect of perfection with regard to the Bank's security interest. To obtain priority against third persons, Section 32:710(B) requires that every chattel mortgage be in writing duly authenticated. Section 32:710(B) further

provides that the chattel mortgage shall be effective as to all persons from the date such chattel mortgage is delivered to the commissioner; and the same shall be superior in rank to any privilege or preference arising subsequently thereto.

In the case of Harper v. Borden Company, 129 So. 2d 330, 336 (Louisiana, 1961), the Louisiana court held that the requirements of Section 32:710 are "intended merely to insure an accurate description of the vehicle so it can be identified." The Bank's retail installment contract included the year, make, series model number, body type and serial number, certainly enough information to satisfy Section 32:710. (R. 172)

The evidence before this Court establishes that on May 27, 1981, the Bank sent the following documents to the Louisiana Department of Public Safety:

- (1) Application for Certificate of Title;
- (2) Notarized Bill of Sale;
- (3) Certificate of Title No. L2334105;
- (4) Notarized Chattel Mortgage;
- (5) Declaration of Insurance Statement; and
- (6) Personal check for \$2,534.00.

There is no question that the Bank delivered the chattel mortgage to the Louisiana Department of Motor Vehicles on May 27, 1981. (R. 167). The Bank's cover letter to the Louisiana Department of Motor Vehicles with the attached mortgage is dated May 27, 1981 (R. 174); and on June 10, 1981, the

Department of Public Safety sent a note to the Bank acknowledging receipt of the documents, including the chattel mortgage, and requesting additional tax and the signatures of the Careys on their title. (R. 179)

The lien was perfected, therefore, on May 27, 1981, or soon thereafter, and certainly no later than June 10, 1981. Section 32:710(B) expressly states that the chattel mortgage is effective against all persons from the date such chattel mortgage is delivered to the commissioner; nowhere in the Louisiana code does the chattel mortgage's effectiveness rest on the commissioner's validation or final acceptance.

Appellant cites Section 70A-9-302, Utah Code Ann. (Repl. Vol. 1977), as providing a useful analogy in considering the proper form of a chattel mortgage creating a valid security interest. According to Appellant, "a financing statement substantially complying with the (filing provisions) is effective even though it contains minor errors which are not seriously misleading." 9-302(9). Respondent fully agrees. The Bank fully complied with the filing requirements under the Louisiana Vehicle Certificate of Title Law with respect to the chattel mortgage. Admittedly the Bank neglected to obtain the original owner's signature on the original title; and the check lacked a penalty and interest. But Louisiana Law does not expressly require such items to make a chattel mortgage effective and such omissions certainly cannot be considered "seriously misleading."

Finally, Appellant argues that since the Amann application was returned to the Plaintiff because the Careys' title had not been signed, and because the Carey title was still on the records, third persons could be misled as to the ownership of the vehicle. Furthermore, Defendant notes that sometime after taking possession of the automobile, he inquired of the records and found that the records showed Carey as the owner of the subject automobile. (R. 291; deposition of Meacham, p. 37) It should make no difference to Defendant whether the records of the Louisiana Department of Motor Vehicles showed Carey as the title owner or Amann as the title owner. Both titles show Plaintiff as having a first lien on the vehicle. (R. 170, 180) From April 16, 1981, forward, the records of Louisiana showed Plaintiff as holding a lien on the automobile.

Defendant did not, at the time of taking possession of the vehicle, make the effort to determine whether there were any liens at all on the vehicle. Defendant knew before making any payment that Plaintiff had a lien on the vehicle and therefore Defendant cannot now claim that Defendant's interest is superior to Plaintiff's.

Finally, it should be noted that Defendant, in an effort to lead the Court to believe that there is an issue of fact remaining, is intentionally presenting his own statements as if they are "facts" in the record. Defendant provided no affidavits supporting his claims that Plaintiff's perfection of the chattel mortgage was defective; that the sale of the

automobile by Carey to Amann took place on a date other than March 11, 1981; or that Charles Pisano was an in-house notary for Plaintiff. And there is nothing in the record to establish that Plaintiff did not resubmit the application for certificate of title before Defendant took possession of the car or before the first payment by Defendant was made on July 20, 1981. These facts have not been and cannot now be at issue.

B. Texas law is inapplicable to any issue before this court.

Appellant invested many pages arguing that Texas law should be applied to determine the priority of the parties' interest. Apparently, Appellant believes that the Ferrari was removed by Amann from Louisiana to Texas; that Plaintiff Bank knew or should have known of the removal; and that Texas law should be applied to determine the priorities of the parties. Appellant claims bases these hereto unalleged claims on a Transaction History Card (R. 82) showing an Amann address in Houston four months after Defendant took possession of the car. Defendant submitted no affidavits alleging that the subject automobile was taken to or kept by Amann in Texas. In fact, the chattel mortgage for the purchase of the automobile by Amann was signed in Louisiana. Amann declared in the chattel mortgage that the Ferrari would be kept at 145 Robert E. Lee Street, New Orleans, Louisiana. (R. 172-73) Moreover, Mr. Amann, in his Affidavit dated October 15, 1982, declared that on June 21, 1981, he delivered the Ferrari to Mr. Carey at his (Amann's) home in New Orleans, Louisiana. (R. 161-62)

By affidavit, the Respondent has established that (1) the car was purchased and financed in Louisiana; (2) that Amann agreed to keep the car in Louisiana; (3) and that on June 21, 1981, Carey picked up the car at Amann's home in Louisiana. Again, for the first time, Appellant is now trying to fabricate a new argument based on facts not previously before the Trial Court and not now before this Court. The only fact now introduced by Meacham is that four months after Meacham's conversion of the Ferrari, a Transaction History Card shows an address, not the address, for Amann in Houston. This is not sufficient evidence to show that Amann lived in or the automobile was kept in Houston, Texas.

POINT III

Defendant is not a Bona Fide Purchaser.

Appellant's final contention is that Defendant Meacham was a bona fide purchaser for value and that his interest in the automobile is therefore protected by Louisiana law. Defendant claims that he purchased the Ferrari from Richard Carey in the latter part of June, 1981, and that it was not until after he had wired \$5,000.00 to Mr. Carey that he heard that Mr. Carey did not actually own the car and that the Bank had a lien on the automobile. (R. 291; deposition of Meacham, pp. 6-7) Based on these claims, Defendant asserts that he is a bona fide purchaser with rights superior to those of Plaintiff.

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